Multi-disciplinary Team (MDT) Guidance for Managing Renal Cancer

Produced by:

- British Association of Urological Surgeons (BAUS): Section of Oncology
- British Uro-oncology Group (BUG)

Date of Preparation: May 2012

This guidance has been supported by an unrestricted educational grant from Pfizer. The development and content of this guidance has not been influenced in any way by the supporting company.

Abbreviations

- 5-FU: 5-fluorouracil
- AE: adverse event
- BMI: body mass index
- CI: confidence interval
- **CN:** cytoreductive nephrectomy
- CR: complete response
- CSS: cancer-specific survival
- CT: computed tomography
- DFS: disease-free survival
- ECOG: Eastern Co-operative Oncology Group
- FDG: fluorodeoxyglucose
- GFR: glomerular filtration rate
- eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate
- HR: hazard ratio
- IFN: interferon
- IL-2: interleukin-2
- ITT: intention-to-treat
- IV: intravenous
- MDT: multi-disciplinary team
- MPA: medroxyprogesterone acetate
- **MRI:** magnetic resonance imaging
- **MSKCC:** Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center
- **NSS:** nephron-sparing surgery
- OR: odds ratio
- ORR: overall response rate
- **OS:** overall survival
- PET: positron emission tomography

- PFS: progression-free survival
- **PN:** partial nephrectomy
- PR: partial response
- PRFA: percutaneous radiofrequency ablation
- **PS:** performance status
- RCC: renal cell cancer
- RCT: randomised controlled trial
- **RFS:** recurrence-free survival
- RN: radical nephrectomy
- **RR:** relative risk
- **SC:** subcutaneous
- SD: stable disease
- TIL: tumour-infiltrating lymphocyte
- TNM: tumour-node-metastasis
- **TTP:** time to progression

Contents

Integrated care and the multi-disciplinary team	5
Approach within the MDT	6
Staging	7
Approach to the patient	8
Assessment and diagnosis	9
Localised disease: Management options	15
Locally advanced and metastatic disease: Management options	29
National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) Technology Appraisal Guidance	46
Palliative care	47
Ongoing support	48
References	49

Integrated care and the Multi-disciplinary Team (MDT)

- The concept of integrated care is becoming increasingly accepted as a way to overcome fragmentation of patient management and to provide a consistent treatment strategy across the MDT
 - o It also creates an optimal structure that facilitates audit and peer review
- Integration within the MDT is essential for patients with renal cancer because the collaboration between MDT members (Table 1) is central to the treatment strategy, with ongoing support from the wider team to manage pain and the adverse effects of therapy
- By being familiar with the complete spectrum of management strategies, the MDT can assist patients in making treatment decisions that are specific for their individual disease state, co-morbid conditions, age and lifestyle
- It is important that decisions regarding more complex surgical/oncological treatments should only be made if the members of the MDT can deliver these

Table 1: The make-up of the MDT for management of patients with renal cancer

- Urologist(s) with expertise in renal cancer
- Clinical nurse specialist
- Oncologist(s) with expertise in renal cancer
- Radiologist
- Pathologist
- Palliative care specialists
- MDT co-ordinator
- MDT secretary

Approach within the MDT

Key questions for the MDT

- Tumour/Node/Metastasis (TNM) stage?
- Fuhrman grade?
- Histological type?
- Symptoms?
- Risk category (primary or metastatic disease)?
- Age?
- Co-morbidities?
- Life expectancy?
- Renal function?
- Family history of cancer/renal cancer?
- Treatment strategies are influenced by the stage and grade of disease and by an interaction between the risk of disease progression and patient characteristics, such as age and general health. The discussion of these factors is of crucial importance in determining the most appropriate way forward. For example, age and the presence of co-morbidities may be limiting factors when considering surgery.
- The case notes, pathology reports, test results and radiology for each patient must be available to be discussed at the meeting.
- Patient preference should also be discussed within the MDT.
- The case should ideally be presented by a clinician or Clinical Nurse Specialist who knows the patient, and is clear on what question needs to be addressed by the MDT.

Staging

Most of the studies on which this guidance is based used TNM version 6 or earlier. The current TNM staging system is TNM version 7.

Table 2 outlines the differences between TNM 6 and TNM 7.

|--|

Tumour stage	TNM 6	TNM 7
T1	≤7 cm; limited to the kidney	≤7 cm; limited to the kidney
T1a	≤4 cm	≤4 cm
T1b	>4 cm	>4 cm
T2	>7 cm; limited to the kidney	>7 cm; limited to the kidney
T2a	NA	>7 cm but <10 cm
T2b	NA	>10 cm
Т3	Adrenal or perinephric invasion; involvement of major veins	Perinephric invasion; involvement of major veins
T3a	Perinephric fat or ipsilateral Renal vein, perinephric fat adrenal	
T3b	Renal vein ± vena cava involvement below diaphragmVena cava below diaphragm	
ТЗс	Vena cava involvement above diaphragmVena cava involvement above diaphragm	
Τ4	Beyond Gerota fascia Beyond Gerota fascia; ipsilateral adrenal	
N1	Single regional lymph node	Single regional lymph node
N2	>1 regional lymph node	>1 regional lymph node

Approach to the patient

Key points for discussion with the patient

- Treatment options
- Treatment side-effects
- Impact of treatment on quality of life
- Family history of cancer/renal cancer
- It is essential that the patient and healthcare professionals discuss the likelihood of adverse events (AEs) associated with each treatment option and implications for their future lifestyle when determining management strategies.
- The patient, and with the patient's consent their partner, family and/or other carers should be fully informed about treatment options and the potential effects of these on their lifestyle and quality of life and therefore be able to make appropriate decisions based upon the choices offered by their healthcare professionals.
- Prognosis to be discussed as per patient's requirement for information.

Assessment and diagnosis

Risk factors for renal cancer

The most well-known risk factors for renal cancer are highlighted below.

- Age³
 - Peak incidence is at 60–70 years of age
- Gender³
 - 1.5:1 predominance for men: women
- Family history^{4, 5}
 - Having at least 1 first-degree relative with renal cancer increases an individual's relative risk (RR) of renal cancer by 1 to 5 times
 - The risk is highest if a sibling is affected
 - The risk of RCC may also be increased in association with a family history of prostate cancer (odds ratio [OR] 1.9), leukaemias (OR 2.2) or any cancer (OR 1.5)
- Single gene mutations
 - Currently there are several renal cancer syndromes, several of which are associated with single gene mutations. Many of these patients will have a family history. These syndromes are outlined in Table 3 below.
- Smoking^{6, 7}
 - The RR of RCC for ever-smokers is 1.38 times higher than that for neversmokers
 - A strong dose-response relationship between number of cigarettes smoked and increased risk of RCC has been established
 - Smokers with a history of ≥20 pack-years have an increased risk of RCC 1.35 times that of never-smokers
- Obesity^{8, 9}
 - Increasing body weight and body mass index (BMI) incrementally increases the risk of developing RCC
 - Being overweight (BMI 25–29.9 kg/m²) increases the risk of RCC by 1.35 times versus BMI <25 kg/m²
 - Being obese (BMI 30–34.9 kg/m²) increases the risk of RCC by 1.7 times versus BMI <25 kg/m²

- Being extremely obese (BMI 35–39.9 kg/m²) increases the risk of RCC by 2.05 times versus BMI <25 kg/m²
- Being morbidly obese (BMI ≥40 kg/m²) increases the risk of RCC by 2.4 times versus BMI <25 kg/m²
- Hypertension and antihypertensive therapy^{10–13}
 - The presence of hypertension is estimated to increase the RR of RCC by 1.4–1.9 times compared with normotensive individuals
 - Systolic blood pressure ≥160 mmHg increases the RR of RCC by 2.5 times versus <120 mmHg
 - Diastolic blood pressure ≥100 mmHg increases the RR of RCC by 2.3 times versus <80 mmHg
 - Treatment with diuretics also increases the risk of RCC (OR 1.43), but this is only significant in women
- End-stage renal disease¹⁴
 - Patients undergoing dialysis for end-stage renal disease are estimated to have a 3.6 times higher RR of developing renal cancer than healthy individuals

Table 3: Renal cancer syndromes^{15, 16}

Disease	Renal and other tumours	Gene mutation
Von Hippel–Lindau disease	Clear cell RCC: Clear cell renal cysts Retinal and central nervous system haemangioblastomas, phaeochromocytoma, pancreatic cyst and endocrine tumour, endolymphatic sac tumour, epididymal and broad ligament cystadenomas	VHL
Birt-Hogg-Dubé syndrome	Hybrid oncocytic RCC, chromophobe RCC, oncocytoma, clear cell RCC: multiple and bilateral Cutaneous lesions (fibrofolliculoma +++, trichodiscoma, acrochordon), lung cysts, spontaneous pneumothorax, colonic polyps or cancer	Folliculin (FLCN)
Hereditary papillary RCC	Type 1 papillary RCC: multiple and bilateral	MET
Hereditary leiomyomatosis and RCC	Type 2 papillary RCC: solitary and aggressive Uterine leiomyoma and leiomyosarcoma, cutaneous leiomyoma and leiomyosarcoma	Fumarate hydratase
Tuberous sclerosis complex	Angiomyolipoma, clear cell RCC, cyst, oncocytoma: bilateral and multiple Facial angiofibroma, subungual fibroma, hypopigmentation and café au lait spots, cardiac rhabdomyoma, seizure, mental retardation, CNS tubers, lymphangioleiomyomatosis	TSC-1 TSC-2
Familial clear cell RCC	Clear cell RCC	Unknown

Diagnostic tests

Physical examination

- Physical examination has only a limited role in diagnosing RCC, but it may be valuable in cases where any of the following are present:
 - Palpable abdominal mass
 - Palpable cervical lymphadenopathy
 - Non-reducing varicocele
 - Bilateral lower extremity oedema, suggesting venous involvement
 - Bony tenderness

Laboratory tests

- The most commonly assessed laboratory parameters are:^{3, 17, 18}
 - Serum creatinine concentration
 - Haemoglobin concentration
 - Serum alkaline phosphatase concentration
 - Serum corrected calcium concentration
 - Plasma C-reactive protein concentration
 - o Serum lactate dehydrogenase concentration
- Glomerular filtration rate (GFR) should be measured in patients with:
 - Compromised renal function
 - Serum creatinine concentration is elevated
 - Risk of future renal impairment is increased, e.g. patients with diabetes, chronic pyelonephritis, renovascular, stone or polycystic renal disease

Renal tumour biopsy

- Biopsy should be performed in patients with advanced or metastatic disease who are being considered for systemic treatment
- Biopsy should be considered in atypical lesions where the diagnosis is not clear and nephrectomy is proposed

• Biopsy should be considered in small renal masses where active surveillance or ablative therapy is planned

Ultrasound and computed tomography (CT)

- CT accurately predicts tumour size to within 0.5 cm of the pathological size of the lesion¹⁹
 - However, CT also demonstrates a false-positive rate of approximately 10% for the identification of lymph node metastases
- In addition, helical CT may identify a requirement for entry into the collecting system for nephron-sparing surgery (NSS)²⁰
- CT is the most sensitive investigation for the identification of pulmonary metastases
- Evaluation of inferior vena cava tumour thrombus extension can be performed with multi-slice CT, which can produce good coronal reconstructions
- Ultrasound is often used for initial screening evaluation when renal disease is suspected. It can be useful to discriminate cystic from solid lesions, to monitor growth of a lesion, and to evaluate lesions found on CT that are probably hyperdense cysts.
- Detection of small renal lesions with ultrasonography is limited. Lesions <3 cm in diameter are detected only 67% to 79% of the time by conventional ultrasonography.
- Bone scans are no longer the standard of care to identify bony metastases whole body magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is increasingly used, this is not, however, likely to be routinely available in many centres.

Magnetic resonance imaging

• MRI is an option for the evaluation of inferior vena cava tumour thrombus extension and unclassified renal masses ²¹

Positron emission tomography (PET)

Currently PET is not a standard investigation in the assessment of renal cancer

- Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) PET does not appear to provide additional information over CT scanning for the characterisation of primary renal tumours, but it may be useful in detecting distant metastases²²
 - In a small study of 15 patients with end-stage renal disease, FDG PET demonstrated a 67% sensitivity and 90% predictive value for urothelial cancers compared with histological findings²³

 In 20 patients with suspected RCC, ¹¹C-acetate PET identified 14 correctly when compared with CT and histology²⁴

Estimated GFR (eGFR) and imaging

- Parenteral contrast agents used for CT scanning may cause contrast-induced nephropathy
- Those at greatest risk are those with pre-existing renal disease or diabetes
- In these patients consider alternative imaging methods
- If no alternative, then deploy a reno-protective regimen, including pre-hydration, minimal dose and avoiding repeated doses in a short timeframe
- An eGFR of 45 ml/min/1.73m² is considered to be the threshold at which renoprotective measures should be implemented²⁵

Localised disease: Management options

The following guidance for managing localised renal cancer focuses on patients with T1–T2 disease (Figure 1). In the proposed management algorithms, locally advanced disease is included within the guidance for metastatic disease.



Figure 1: Surgical management of T1 and T2 disease

Personal choice and the presence or absence of co-morbidities is an essential component of management decisions in patients with localised disease. Decisions concerning the choice of radical treatments need to be carefully balanced with the different options available and the impact of such treatments on a patient's co-morbidities.

In this section available evidence for the following management approaches is outlined:

- Radical nephrectomy
- Partial nephrectomy
- Ablative techniques
- Active surveillance

Surgery

Radical nephrectomy (RN)

There are a number of approaches to performing RN: open and laparoscopic, via either transperitoneal or retroperitoneal access.

Overview

- Laparoscopic RN may now be considered a standard of care for patients with T2 and T1b masses not treatable by NSS; but this must ensure:²⁶
 - Early control of the renal blood vessels prior to tumour manipulation
 - Wide specimen mobilisation external to Gerota's fascia
 - Avoidance of specimen trauma or rupture
 - Intact specimen extraction
- Routine ipsilateral adrenalectomy is not indicated:^{26, 27}
 - Where the adrenal gland appears normal on pre-operative tumour staging (CT, MRI) and intra-operatively where there is no intra-operative suspicion of involvement
- Indications for adrenalectomy include an adrenal nodule or an adrenal gland densely adherent to a large upper pole renal tumour. Routine extended lymphadenectomy should be restricted to dissection of palpable or enlarged lymph nodes^{26, 28}

Technique

- Laparoscopic versus open RN
 - There are no randomised controlled trials (RCTs) assessing oncological outcomes
 - A prospective cohort study²⁹ and a retrospective database review³⁰ found similar oncological outcomes; there were no statistically significant differences in cancer-specific survival (CSS) and recurrence-free survival (RFS) at 5 years in these studies.
- Transperitoneal versus retroperitoneal laparoscopic
 - Three randomised or quasi-randomised studies compared retroperitoneal and transperitoneal laparoscopic RN.^{31–33} Both approaches were found to have similar oncological outcomes, although a low number of metastatic events were reported across the studies.

- Hand-assisted versus transperitoneal or retroperitoneal laparoscopic
 - In a randomised study, there were no reported cancer deaths, positive surgical margins, or recurrences³²
 - In a non-randomised study, estimated 5-year overall survival (OS), cancer-specific CSS and RFS rates were comparable³⁴
- Ipsilateral adrenalectomy
 - In a prospective non-randomised comparative study for partial nephrectomy (PN) with ipsilateral adrenalectomy versus PN without adrenalectomy, only 48 (2.3%) of 2065 patients underwent concurrent ipsilateral adrenalectomy.²⁷ After a median follow-up of 5.5 years, only 15 patients (0.74%) underwent subsequent ipsilateral adrenalectomy. There was no statistically significant difference in OS at 5 years (82% with adrenalectomy versus 85% without adrenalectomy; p=0.56).
- Lymph node dissection
 - In a Phase III randomised trial which compared RN with and without lymph node dissection in patients with clinical T1–T3/N0/M0 renal tumours, there were no significant differences in OS, or progression-free survival (PFS).²⁸ The incidence of unsuspected lymph node metastases was low (4%), although the extent of lymphadenectomy was variable. Where nodes were palpable pre-operatively, 16% were pathologically cancerous.

Patient selection

- Stage T1–T2 disease
- Normal contralateral kidney
- Fitness for surgery/anaesthesia
- Baseline GFR >60 ml/min/1.73 m²
 - In an analysis of data from 1479 patients undergoing RN, those with reduced baseline GFR 45–60 ml/min/1.73 m² or GFR <45 ml/min/1.73 m² demonstrated a significant association with lower OS (hazard ratio [HR]: 1.5; p<0.003 and HR: 2.8; p<0.001, respectively)³⁵
- Absence of co-morbidities
 - In patients undergoing surgery for RCC, the presence of co-morbidities was associated with worse OS (HR: 1.37; 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.16–1.63; p=0.0002)³⁶

Adverse effects of treatment

- Impaired renal function/development of chronic kidney disease and requirement for dialysis
- Greater all-cause mortality versus PN

- An RCT³⁷ and a database review³⁸ both reported significantly lower median creatinine levels at follow-up in the open PN group than in the RN group
- A retrospective matched pair study showed a greater proportion of patients with impaired postoperative renal function in the open RN group³⁹
- A database review⁴⁰ comparing laparoscopic PN and laparoscopic RN for tumours >4 cm reported a greater decrease in eGFR (decrease of 13 versus 24 ml/min/1.73 m²; p=0.03) in the laparoscopic RN group and there was a greater proportion of patients with a 2-stage increase in the chronic kidney disease stage in the laparoscopic RN group (0 versus 12%; p<0.001)
- A database review⁴¹ comparing PN and RN (by open or laparoscopic approach) in tumours 4–7 cm in diameter reported that the increase in mean creatinine postoperatively was significantly smaller in the PN group (difference between means at 3 months: 0.23 mg/dL; 95% CI: 0.11–0.34; p<0.0001, and at 6–12 months: 0.21 mg/dL; 95% CI: 0.09–0.34; p<0.0001)
- In a retrospective cohort study involving patients with renal cortical tumours, the 3year probability of avoidance of GFR falling below 60 ml/min/1.73 m² was 80% after open or laparoscopic PN compared with 35% after open or laparoscopic RN⁴²
 - Multivariate analysis demonstrated that RN remained an independent risk factor for *de novo* GFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² (HR: 3.82; 95%CI: 2.75–5.32; p<0.0001)
- In 2991 patients with tumours ≤4 cm in diameter and a median follow-up of 4 years, RN was associated with a significantly increased risk of all-cause mortality versus PN (HR: 1.38; p<0.01)⁴³
 - In addition, RN demonstrated a significantly increased risk of cardiovascular events after surgery versus PN (HR: 1.4; p<0.05)
- In 9809 patients with T1a disease treated between 1988 and 2004, RN was associated with a significant increase in all-cause mortality relative to PN (HR: 1.23; p=0.001)⁴⁴
- An analysis of data from a patient registry (n=648) has evaluated outcomes for RN versus PN⁴⁵

- In the total patient population, RN was not associated with a significant increase in all-cause mortality versus PN (RR: 1.12; p=0.52)
- However, in patients aged <65 years, RN was associated with a significantly increased RR of death from any cause compared with PN (RR: 2.16; p=0.02)
- A Phase III RCT of RN versus PN (n=541 from a recruitment target of 1300) in T1 and T2 tumours showed a survival benefit for RN in an intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis⁴⁶
 - In clinically and pathologically eligible patients (those with T1 or T2 renal cancer) there was no significant difference

Nephron-sparing surgery/partial nephrectomy

Overview

- NSS performed for absolute rather than elective indications has an increased complication rate and higher risk of developing locally recurrent disease, probably due to the larger tumour size
- NSS compared with RN is associated with a reduced risk of impaired renal function
- Even patients with larger tumours (≤7 cm) who have undergone NSS have achieved outcomes comparable to those following RN
 - However, for larger tumours follow-up should be intensified due to an increased risk of intrarenal disease recurrence
- If the tumour is completely resected, the thickness of the surgical margin does not impact on the likelihood of local recurrence; a minimal tumour-free margin is appropriate to minimise the risk of local recurrence
- Laparoscopic PN is an alternative to open NSS for selected patients the optimal indication is a relatively small and peripheral renal tumour
- There are currently no large studies to reliably demonstrate long-term equivalence for laparoscopic PN and open NSS
- Potential disadvantages of the laparoscopic approach are the longer warm ischaemia time and increased intraoperative and postoperative complications compared with open surgery

Patient selection

- Stage T1 disease
- Stage T2 disease for absolute indications

- Fitness for surgery/anaesthesia
- Solitary functional kidney or bilateral disease (absolute indication)
- Contralateral kidney with impaired function (relative indication)
- Hereditary RCC, with increased risk of future tumours in the contralateral kidney (relative indication)
- Normal contralateral kidney (elective indication)

Adverse effects of treatment

- Postoperative haemorrhage or urinary leakage
 - In a randomised trial comparing open PN with open RN for small (≤5 cm), solitary renal tumours, perioperative bleeding (p<0.001) and urinary fistulae (p<0.001) were significantly more common in the PN group.³⁷ The rate of severe haemorrhage (>1L) was 3.1% after PN and 1.2% after RN. Ten patients (4.4%), all of whom were treated by PN, developed urinary fistulae.
 - The database review³⁸ and a matched-pair study³⁰ both reported no differences in the rates of haemorrhage but event rates were very rare
 - In a review of data from 717 patients undergoing open PN in a single centre between 1980 and 2004, postoperative haemorrhage occurred in 19% of patients, urinary fistula in 8% of patients and acute renal failure in 6% of patients⁴⁷
 - In a separate study involving 1048 NSS procedures, tumour size >4 cm was associated with significantly increased risks of blood loss (p=0.01), requirement for blood transfusion (p=0.001) and urinary fistula development (p=0.01)⁴⁸
 - In 223 cases of laparoscopic PN, bleeding occurred in 1.8% of patients and urinary leakage occurred in 1.4% of patients⁴⁹
- Requirement for repeat intervention
 - $\circ~$ In a randomised trial, the re-operation rate after open PN was 4.4% compared with 2.4% after open RN^{37}
 - In a retrospective analysis of data from 127 patients during 1988–2003, a total of 15.7% of patients required re-intervention following initial NSS (22.6% in absolute and 10.8% in elective indications)⁵⁰

Clinical evidence

• Open PN versus open RN

- $\circ~$ One small randomised trial reported that the two approaches had a median OS of 96 months each^{51}
- A larger randomised study showed no difference in CSS. Only 10% of 117 deaths were due to renal cancer, and death from renal cancer could not account for differences shown in the ITT analysis⁴⁶
- In two non-randomised studies, the estimated CSS rates at 5 years for RN versus PN respectively were 97% versus 100%³⁸ and 97.9% versus 100% (p=0.98)³⁹
- Laparoscopic PN versus laparoscopic RN
 - In a database review, the estimated OS ,CSS and RFS rates for laparoscopic PN and RN respectively at 80 months were statistically similar (74% versus 72%, 81% versus 77%, and 81% versus 77%⁴⁰
- Laparoscopic or open PN versus laparoscopic or open RN
 - Four non-randomised studies that reported adjusted HRs for CSS showed no statistically significant differences^{52–55}
 - One non-randomised study which reported adjusted HR for disease-free survival (DFS) showed no statistically significant difference⁴¹
- Laparoscopic PN versus open PN
 - $\circ~$ In a database review, there were no statistically significant differences in 3-year CSS 56

Surveillance following radical nephrectomy

Overview

- No RCTs have been published to support specific surveillance measures following RN
- There is no consensus regarding the timing of surveillance
 - Frequency of follow-up is individualised according to the risk of local recurrence or metastasis, assessed using:
 - Tumour size and extension
 - Lymph node status
 - Histological features
 - Performance status (PS)
 - Risk scoring systems are recommended for stratifying patients for follow-up, e.g. the Mayo Scoring system (Table 4)

- In patients considered to be at low risk of relapse (score 0–2), chest X-ray and ultrasound are appropriate assessments
- In patients with intermediate (score 3–5) to high risk (score >6) of relapse, CT of the chest and abdomen is recommended as the optimal assessment tool, performed at regular intervals
- For patients with intermediate and high risk scores there is no established routine adjuvant therapy. Entry into trials such as SORCE should be considered (see section on locally advanced and metastatic disease)

Table 4: Mayo scoring system for prediction of metastases after radical nephrectomyfor clear cell carcinoma⁵⁷

Feature	Score
Primary tumour	
pT1a	0
pT1b	2
pT2	3
рТ3–рТ4	4
Tumour size	
<10 cm	0
≥10 cm	1
Regional lymph node status	
pNx/pN0	0
pN1-pN2	2
Nuclear grade	
1–2	0
3	1
4	3
Tumour necrosis	
Absent	0

Present	1

Ablative therapies

Overview

• Possible advantages of these techniques include reduced morbidity, outpatient therapy, and the ability to treat patients unsuitable for surgery (open or laparoscopic), including the elderly^{3, 58}

Patient selection

- Stage T1–T2 disease
- Life expectancy \geq 1 year
- Small (<5 cm) peripheral (cortical) tumours
- Genetic predisposition to multiple tumours
- A solitary kidney
- Bilateral tumours
- Contraindications: irreversible coagulopathies; severe medical instability, e.g. sepsis

Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation (PRFA)

Overview

- No RCTs evaluating PFRA in renal cancer have been reported
- CT or ultrasound-guided PFRA may be performed under intravenous (IV) sedation and as an outpatient procedure^{59, 60}
- Assessment of treatment success is performed using CT scanning or MRI^{59, 61}

Patient selection

- Tumours <5.5 cm, in situations where surgery is not feasible^{60–62}
- Single functioning kidney^{60, 61}
- Normal contralateral kidney⁶¹
- Multifocal RCC⁶⁰

Adverse effects of treatment

- The most commonly reported complication associated with PRFA is haematoma development
 - The frequency of this has been reported as ranging from 4% to 8% of patients^{63–65}
- Haemorrhage has been reported in 6% of patients⁶⁰
- Urinary obstruction has been reported in 4–10% of patients^{60, 64, 66}
- In a series of 24 patients, 2 experienced colonic injuries following PFRA⁶⁴

- A meta-analysis of data from 99 studies and including 6471 tumours has recently been published⁶⁷
 - When compared with NSS, PFRA was associated with an RR of 18.23 and cryoablation an RR of 7.45 for local disease progression
- A few studies have assessed PRFA in patients with varying tumour sizes
 - In 8 patients with 11 tumours, lesions measuring 1.5–5.5 cm were successfully ablated with a maximum of 2 sessions⁶¹
 - After a mean of 7.1 months, 7 of 8 patients demonstrated no recurrence
 - \circ In a series of 105 patients with 95 tumours, 12 were >4 cm in diameter⁶²
 - For 84 tumours, treatment consisted of a single session of PRFA
 - The majority of these were <3.5 cm in diameter
 - 14 tumours were treated with a second session
 - The overall success rate was 95 of 105 tumours (91%)
 - $\circ~$ In 85 patients with 100 tumours (1.1–8.9 cm), 90 tumours in 77 patients were successfully ablated 60
 - In 7 patients, residual tumour was observed after 1 to 4 PRFA sessions
 - All these tumours were >4 cm in diameter
 - After a mean of 2.3 years of follow-up, 77 patients were alive (23 were >3 years post-PRFA)

- A number of studies have evaluated CT-guided PFRA in patients with tumours <4 cm
 - In a small early study, 12 patients (13 tumours) underwent CT-guided PFRA.⁶⁸ At a mean follow-up of 4.9 months, 12 of 13 tumours were successfully ablated
 - A separate study involved 29 patients with 35 lesions undergoing 37 treatments⁵⁹
 - 35 treatments were successfully performed under IV sedation and 32 were successfully performed on an outpatient basis
 - At a mean follow-up of 9 months, 94% of tumours required only a single treatment
 - Of 13 lesions with ≥12-month follow-up, 11 demonstrated no residual enhancement on imaging or growth after PFRA
 - In 32 patients, 26 experienced successful treatment after 1 session of PFRA; of the remaining 6 patients, 5 were successfully treated with a second session⁶³
 - Tumours requiring a second treatment session were significantly larger than those successfully ablated after 1 session (3.5 versus 2.4 cm; p=0.0013)
 - CT-guided PFRA performed in 22 patients was successful after a single treatment in 18 patients and a second treatment was successful in an additional 2 patients⁶⁹
 - All tumours ≤3 cm were successfully ablated after 1 treatment session
 - In an updated series from the same institution, 104 patients with 125 tumours were treated with PFRA⁷⁰
 - 109 tumours were completely ablated following a single treatment and another 7 were completely ablated after second treatment
 - All 95 tumours <3.7 cm were completely ablated
 - With each 1 cm increase in tumour diameter over 3.6 cm, the likelihood of tumour-free survival decreased by a factor of 2.2
 - In 23 patients undergoing PFRA under conscious sedation, 16 had a successful ablation following a single treatment; a further 2 experienced successful ablation after a second treatment⁶⁵
 - The overall DFS was 90% at a mean follow-up of 24 months
 - In a series of 29 patients with 30 renal tumours, CT-guided PFRA was performed under general anaesthesia⁶⁶

- In 24 patients for whom the objective of treatment was tumour ablation, this was achieved in 23 cases
- A total of 163 tumours in 151 patients were treated with CT-guided PFRA under general anaesthesia⁷¹
 - At 4–6 weeks post-treatment, the complete ablation rate was 97%
 - Five tumours showed evidence of local recurrence and metastases developed in 2 patients
 - 3-year DFS was 92%
- In a study comparing outcomes with PFRA (n=82) and laparoscopic cryoablation (n=164), radiological evidence of disease persistence or recurrence was observed in 9 patients receiving PFRA and 3 patients receiving cryoablation⁷²
 - At a median follow-up of 1 year, CSS following PFRA was 100%
 - At a median follow-up of 3 years, CSS following cryotherapy was 98%

Cryoablation

Overview

- No RCTs evaluating cryoablation in renal cancer have been reported
- Defining RFS is variable because post-ablation biopsies are not commonly performed and interpretation of post-ablation cross-sectional imaging can be difficult
- Recent changes and advancements in probe technology make percutaneous treatment easier than open or laparoscopic techniques

Adverse effects of treatment

• In a study involving 27 cryoablation treatments, 1 episode of haemorrhage occurred, which required a blood transfusion and 1 patient experienced an abscess⁷³

- Laparoscopic cryoablation has been evaluated in a number of studies
 - In a database review, time to detection of local recurrence was 5.8 months among those who underwent laparoscopic PN (1/153) and 24.6 months after laparoscopic cryoablation (2/78)⁷⁴

- In a matched pair study, no recurrences were reported in either the laparoscopic PN or laparoscopic cryoablation groups after a mean follow-up of 9.8 and 11.9 months, respectively⁷⁵
- In a matched comparison of laparoscopic cryoablation and open PN, no local recurrences or metastases were reported in either group. However, there were only 20 patients in each arm and follow-up was short, at 27–28 months.⁷⁶
- In 56 patients, 3 years after treatment, only 2 patients experienced recurrent or persistent local disease⁷⁷
 - In the 51 patients with a unilateral, sporadic tumour, 3-year CSS was 98%
- In a study comparing outcomes with PFRA (n=82) and laparoscopic cryoablation (n=164), radiological evidence of disease persistence or recurrence was observed in 9 patients receiving PFRA and 3 patients receiving cryoablation⁷²
 - At a median follow-up of 1 year, CSS following PFRA was 100%
 - At a median follow-up of 3 years, CSS following cryotherapy was 98%
- Percutaneous cryoablation has also been assessed
 - In a series of 23 patients with 26 tumours, 24 were successfully ablated, with 23 requiring only a single treatment⁷³
 - In an analysis of 48 cases (49 tumours), percutaneous cryoablation was performed under sedation and as an outpatient procedure⁷⁸
 - At a mean follow-up of 1.6 years, for patients with RCC, 11% were considered to be treatment failures
 - Major and minor complications were observed in 3 and 11 procedures, respectively

Surveillance

- Recently it has been recognised that many renal masses do not progress rapidly. This has led to the concept of active surveillance in elderly patients who have small tumours where the aim is to avoid treatment and enable a low risk of progression.
 - A meta-analysis of 880 patients with 936 renal masses demonstrated that only 18 progressed to metastasis at a mean of 40 months⁷⁹
 - A subset of these patients with individual data shows that the mean diameter was small at 2.3 ± 1.3 cm, mean linear growth rate was 0.31 ± 0.38 cm per year at a mean follow-up of 33.5 ± 22.6 months

- Sixty-five masses (23%) exhibited zero net growth under surveillance, and none of those masses progressed to metastasis
- A pooled analysis revealed that older age, larger tumour volume and a more rapid growth rate were associated with progression
- A recent Phase II prospective study in Canada recruited 178 patients, and all were asked to undergo biopsy prior to an active surveillance programme. Ninety-nine patients had a renal biopsy; 12% showed benign disease and 33% were not diagnostic⁸⁰
 - At a median follow up of 28 months, 1.1% developed metastases and 12% had local progression. The mean growth rate was 0.31 cm per year

Locally advanced and metastatic disease: Management options

The following guidance focuses on patients with T3–T4 disease as well as those with distant metastases.

With the availability of several treatment options, each with a slightly different profile of risk and benefit, there are various options for initial treatment. The choice of treatment approach requires appreciation of the risks and benefits of each and knowledge of the limitations of the data currently available, especially for systemic therapies.⁵⁸ Fitness for surgery and the presence of co-morbidities and the type and number of metastatic lesions is an essential component of management decisions in patients with advanced disease.

The goal for every patient with metastatic RCC is to maximise overall therapeutic benefit, which means delaying for as long as possible a lethal burden of disease while maximising the patient's quality of life. Treatment is therefore selected according to the best possible risk/benefit ratio for each patient, with the realisation that limited criteria exist for prediction of response to a particular drug and that many sequential treatments are ultimately likely to be pursued for most patients.⁵⁸

In this section available evidence for the following management approaches is outlined:

- RN
- Cytoreductive nephrectomy (CN)
- Resection of metastases
- Immunotherapy
- Angiogenesis inhibitors

Surgery

Figure 2: Surgical management of T3–T4 disease



Radical nephrectomy

Overview

- About 5–10% of RCCs extend into the venous system as tumour thrombi, often ascending the inferior vena cava as high as the right atrium⁵⁸
- RN is strongly indicated for locally advanced RCC⁵⁸
- Total surgical excision should be the objective of surgery, presuming the patient is an appropriate candidate and vital structures are not compromised⁵⁸
- RN will occasionally require *en bloc* resection of adjacent organs, isolation and temporary occlusion of the regional vasculature, and venous thrombectomy⁵⁸

Patient selection

- Stage T3–T4 disease (involvement of adrenal gland and/or renal vasculature) or metastatic disease
- PS 0–1

Clinical evidence

- In 601 patients with T2–T3b RCC, 567 underwent RN and 34 underwent NSS⁸¹
 - After a mean follow-up of 43.4 months, disease recurred in 28.9% receiving RN and 12.0% of patients receiving NSS
- A retrospective analysis of 38 patients with T3–T4 disease evaluated RN and resection of adjacent organ or structure resection⁸²
 - 34 patients (90%) had died from their disease after a median of 11.7 months after surgery
- In an analysis of data from 11,182 patients with metastatic RCC, those who underwent RN experienced a significantly longer median OS than those who did not undergo surgery (11 versus 4 months; p<0.001)⁸³
 - The survival benefit was similar regardless of age, race and gender
- In a series of 404 patients with metastatic RCC who underwent RN, 3- and 5-year CSS rates were 21% and 13%, respectively⁸⁴
- A retrospective analysis of data gathered between 1970 and 2000 from 540 patients at the Mayo Clinic has evaluated the effect of surgery in renal cancer with renal venous extension⁸⁵
 - Patients with a higher thrombus level had a greater incidence of early surgical complications: Level 0 = 8.6%; Level I = 15.2%; Level II = 14.1%; Level III = 17.9%; Level IV = 30.0% (p<0.001 for trend)
 - For patients with clear cell carcinoma, the 5-year CSS rates for thrombus Levels 0 to IV were 49.1%, 31.7%, 26.3%, 39.4% and 37.0% (p=0.028 for trend)
- The UK guidelines on systemic treatment of RCC state that there is no standard of care for the adjuvant treatment of RCC and that suitable patients should be referred to centres that can offer entry into the adjuvant therapy clinical trials like SORCE⁸⁶

Cytoreductive nephrectomy

- CN has been suggested to reduce the total burden of disease in patients with metastatic RCC, increasing the time before tumour burden becomes lethal⁵⁸
- However, the benefit of CN is supported by evidence from the era of IFN-α and cannot automatically be extrapolated into the modern era in combination with targeted molecules. Nevertheless, a very high proportion of cases (>90%) had had a nephrectomy in studies of targeted molecules

• This is currently being addressed in the CARMENA trial. There is also a separate EORTC trial addressing optimal timing in this scenario.

Patient selection

- Good PS with adequate cardiac and pulmonary function
- WHO PS 0 or 1
 - In a retrospective analysis of data from 418 patients undergoing CN, those with an Eastern Co-operative Oncology Group (ECOG) PS 2 or 3 experienced a median DSS of 6.6 months compared with 27 months and 13.8 months in patients with ECOG PS 0 and 1, respectively⁸⁷
- Fit for surgery
- >75% of tumour burden in the involved kidney
- Solitary brain or liver metastases
- Patient acceptance of the procedure after full discussion of risks and benefits

- In a retrospective analysis of data from 5372 patients with metastatic RCC, CN (n=2447) was compared with no surgery (n=2925)⁴⁴
 - $\circ~$ 5-year OS rates were 19.4% for CN versus 2.3% for no surgery
 - $\circ~$ 5-year CSS rates were 24.3% for CN versus 4.1% for no surgery
 - Relative to CN, the no-treatment group demonstrated a 2.5-fold greater rate of overall and cancer-specific mortality
- In a separate analysis of data from cancer registries in the US, outcomes for patients with metastatic RCC were compared following CN (n=1997) or PN (n=46)⁸⁸
 - At 5 years of follow-up, CSS rates were 20.9% for patients undergoing CN and 40.3% for patients undergoing PN
 - At 10 years of follow-up, CSS rates were 14.2% for patients undergoing CN and 40.3% for patients undergoing PN
 - CN was associated with a 1.8 fold higher cancer-specific mortality rate than PN (p=0.015)
- A similar analysis in patients with metastases has compared outcomes in 45 patients undergoing PN with 732 patients undergoing CN⁸⁹

- 3-year DSS rates were 75.0% for patients undergoing PN and 52.7% for patients undergoing CN
- The median actuarial survival of the CN versus PN patients was 1.3 versus 5.1 years (rate ratio: 3.0; p<0.001)
- CN was associated with a 1.7 fold higher cancer-specific mortality rate (p=0.1)
- Laparoscopic and open CN were compared in a series of 64 patients with metastatic RCC⁹⁰
 - The estimated 1-year OS rates were 61% in the laparoscopic group and 65% in the open group
- A number of data analyses regarding outcomes of CN in patients with metastatic RCC treated at the MD Anderson Cancer Center have been published
 - In 38 patients who underwent laparoscopic CN between 2001 and 2005, median OS was 18.1 months⁹¹
 - In 24 elderly patients (aged ≥75 years) undergoing open CN, median OS was 16.6 months, compared with 13.7 months in patients aged <75 years (p=NS)⁹²
 - In patients with non-clear cell histology, median DSS was 9.7 months compared with 20.3 months for patients with clear cell carcinoma (p=0.0003)⁹³
- In a randomised trial, patients with metastatic renal cancer underwent CN + treatment with IFN- α 2b or treatment with IFN- α 2b alone⁹⁴
 - ο Median OS was 13.6 months for CN + IFN-α2b versus 7.8 months for IFNα2b alone (p=0.002)

Adjuvant tumour cell-derived vaccines

- In 89 patients with T3/N0/M0 disease, administration of an autologous tumour cell lysate vaccine following RN was associated with a greater PFS rate than no adjuvant therapy (74.4% versus 65.9%)⁹⁵
- In a separate study, 160 patients with metastatic RCC who had undergone RN were randomised to treatment with CD8⁺ tumour-infiltrating leukocytes (TILs) + recombinant interleukin-2 (IL-2) or IL-2 alone, administered for 4 days over a 4-week period⁹⁶
 - \circ 1-year OS 55% for CD8⁺ TILs + IL-2 versus 47% for IL-2 alone
 - The study was terminated early due to lack of efficacy

- In a series of 102 patients with metastatic RCC, 1-year OS was 73% and 2-year OS was 55% following RN and adjuvant IL-2 + TILs⁹⁷
- In patients with T2/N0/M0 or T3/N0/M0 RCC, following RN 148 patients received autologous tumour cell lysate vaccine while 88 patients received no adjuvant therapy⁹⁸
 - In patients with T2 disease, 5-year OS was 86% in the vaccine group versus 71.4% in the control group (p=0.0059), while 5-year PFS was 84.6% and 65.3% for vaccine and control, respectively (p=0.0023)
 - In patients with T3 RCC, 5-year OS was 77.5% in the vaccine group versus 25.0% in the control group (p<0.0001), while 5-year PFS was 68.2% and 19.4% for vaccine and control, respectively (p<0.0001)
- In a German study, 558 patients who had undergone RN were randomised to adjuvant autologous tumour cell vaccine (doses administered at 6-weekly intervals) or no adjuvant treatment⁹⁹
 - At 5 years of follow-up, HR for tumour progression was 1.58 (95%CI: 1.05–2.37; p=0.0204) in favour of the vaccine group
 - o 5-year PFS was 77.4% in the treatment arm and 67.8% in the control arm
- A large, randomised Phase III trial evaluated adjuvant autologous tumour-derived heat-shock protein peptide complex vaccine versus observation alone in 818 patients who had undergone RN for locally advanced RCC¹⁰⁰
 - After a median follow-up of 1.9 years, disease recurrence was reported for 37.7% of patients receiving vaccine and 39.8% of patients under observation only (HR: 0.923; 95%CI: 0.729–1.169; p=0.506)

Adjuvant immunotherapy

- 309 patients were randomised to adjuvant IL-2, interferon-alpha (IFN-α) and 5fluorouracil (5-FU) in patients with a high risk of relapse after nephrectomy for RCC¹⁰¹
 - $\circ~$ There were no statistically significant differences between the two arms in terms of DFS or OS
 - o 35% of patients did not complete the treatment primarily due to toxicity
- 197 patients with metastatic RCC who had undergone RN ≥3 weeks previously were randomised to IFN-γ1b or placebo¹⁰²
 - The overall response rate (ORR) was 4.4% (3.3% complete response [CR] and 1.1% partial response [PR]) in the IFN-γ1b group and 6.6 percent (3.3% CR and 3.3% PR) in the placebo group (p=0.54)

- Median time to progression (TTP) was 1.9 months in both groups (p=0.49)
- \circ Median OS was 12.2 months with IFN- $\gamma 1b$ versus 15.7 months with placebo (p=0.52)
- In another randomised study, 83 patients with metastatic RCC received RN + IFN-α or IFN-α alone¹⁰³
 - Median TTP was 5 months for RN + IFN- α versus 3 months for IFN- α alone (HR: 0.60; 95%CI: 0.36–0.97; p=0.04)
 - Median OS for RN + IFN-α versus IFN-α alone was 17 months versus 7 months (HR: 0.54; 95%CI: 0.31–0.94; p=0.03)
 - $\circ~$ Five patients in the RN + IFN- α group and 1 in the IFN- α group achieved a CR
- In 247 patients with advanced RCC (Robson stages II and III), treatment with RN followed by IFN-α was compared with RN + observation¹⁰⁴
 - $\circ~$ 5-year OS probabilities were similar for RN + IFN- $\alpha~$ and RN alone (0.66 versus 0.67)
 - There were also no differences between groups for 5-year DFS
- In a randomised Phase III trial, 283 patients with T3–T4 and/or node-positive RCC received adjuvant IFN-α (daily for 5 days every 3 weeks; up to a maximum of 12 cycles) or no treatment following RN¹⁰⁵
 - Median DFS was 2.2 years in the IFN-α arm and 3.0 years in the observation arm (p=0.33)
- In 88 patients who underwent RN for non-metastatic RCC followed by adjuvant IFN- α , OS was 90% at 5 years and 88% at 10 years¹⁰⁶
 - Median 5-year DFS was 81% and 10-year DFS was 74%
- In 235 patients with metastatic RCC who underwent RN prior to treatment with IL-2, 1- and 2-year OS were 67% and 44%, respectively⁹⁷
- A separate study has evaluated the effects of combined IL-2, IFN-α and 5-FU for 8 weeks compared with observation only, administered after cytoreductive nephrectomy (CN) in 203 patients with locally advanced or metastatic RCC¹⁰⁷
 - $\circ~$ At a median follow-up of 4.3 years, 5-year OS was 58% in the treatment arm and 76% in the observation arm (p=0.02)
 - o 5-year RFS for treatment versus observation was 42% versus 49% (p=0.24)

Resection of metastases

Patients with limited metastatic disease can be considered for metastasectomy⁵⁸

Patient selection

- Good PS
- Resectable, residual metastases following previous response to immunotherapy
- Patients who relapse with oligometastatic disease >1 year are more likely to benefit from metastatectomy than those who relapse <1 year post-nephrectomy
- The decision to proceed with metastatectomy should be taken after a test of time to exclude as far as possible those patients who are rapidly relapsing with metastatic disease appearing at other sites
 - A minimum 3-month period is recommended

- In a series of patients with metastatic RCC and pulmonary metastases, 191 underwent pulmonary resection¹⁰⁸
 - 5-year OS was 41.5% in patients with complete resection and 22.1% in those with incomplete resection
 - In patients with pulmonary or mediastinal lymph node involvement and complete resection, 5-year OS was 24.4%, compared with 42.1% in patients without lymph node metastases
 - OS was significantly longer for patients with <7 pulmonary metastases than those with >7 pulmonary metastases (46.8% versus 14.5%)
- In an analysis of data from 92 patients with metastatic RCC and undergoing resection of pulmonary metastases, median DFS was 3.0 years¹⁰⁹
- In 64 patients with metastatic RCC and only pulmonary metastases, 5-year OS was 39.9% for those achieving complete resection and 0% for those achieving incomplete resection¹¹⁰
 - Median OS was 46.6 months and 13.3 months for complete and incomplete resection, respectively
- In 45 patients undergoing resection of thyroid RCC metastases, 5-year OS was 51%¹¹¹
 - 14 patients subsequently developed pancreatic metastases and 10 underwent pancreatic surgery, with a 5-year OS of 43%

Systemic therapy

• In patients with metastatic RCC for whom no surgical options are advisable, systemic therapy should be considered (Table 5)

Table 5: Treatment algorithm with systemic therapy for locally advanced andmetastatic RCC

	Setting	Phase III
Treatment- naive	Good or intermediate	Sunitinib ¹¹² Bevacizumab + interferon-α ¹¹³
	MSKCC fisk status	Pazopanib ¹¹⁴
	Poor MSKCC risk	Temsirolimus ¹¹⁵
status	Sunitinib ¹¹²	
Refractory	Prior cytokine	Sorafenib ¹¹⁶
	Prior VEGFR-TKI	Everolimus ¹¹⁷

MSKCC: Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center; VEGFR-TKI: vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor

- Although several active agents are now available for the treatment of metastatic disease, their general inability to produce durable CRs necessitates chronic treatment in most patients⁵⁸
- The benefits must therefore be weighed against the overall burden of treatment, including acute and chronic toxicity, time and cost⁵⁸

Immunotherapy (interferon-alpha and interleukin-2)

Overview

- IFN- α is a treatment option for selected patients with a good prognosis
- IL-2 is not recommended as a routine treatment as there is a lack of Level 1 evidence proving a survival advantage
 - High-dose IL-2 may be an option for carefully selected patients referred to experienced centres

• Patients should preferably be treated within a clinical trial

Adverse effects of treatment

• The most common AEs associated with IFN- α and IL-2 therapy are hypotension, nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea and anaemia¹¹⁸

Patient selection

- Good PS (ECOG 0 or 1)
- Good renal, hepatic and haematological function
- No cardiac or central nervous system disorders
- No active infections

- The effect of IFN-α as first-line systemic treatment for metastatic RCC has been assessed in a retrospective analysis of data from 463 patients¹¹⁹
 - 12 patients achieved a CR and 41 patients achieved a PR (ORR=11%)
 - Median OS was 13 months
 - Median PFS was 4.7 months
 - $\circ~$ 3- and 5-year OS rates were 19% and 10%, respectively
- In a Phase III study, 492 patients with metastatic RCC were randomised to medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA; 200 mg once-daily), subcutaneous (SC) IFN-α (9 million units 3 times per week), SC IL-2 (9 million units twice-daily for 5 days followed by a 2-day rest, then, during the following 3 weeks, 9 million units twice-daily for 2 days and then 9 million units once-daily for 3 days), or SC IFN-α + SC IL-2¹²⁰
 - Median OS was 14.9 months for MPA, 15.2 months for IFN- α , 15.3 months for IL-2 and 16.8 months for IFN- α + IL-2
 - $\circ~$ Median PFS was 3.0 months for MPA, 3.4 months for IFN- α , 3.4 months for IL-2 and 3.8 months for IFN- α + IL-2
- In a separate Phase III trial, 192 patients with metastatic disease who had not received prior systemic therapy were randomised to SC IL-2 (5 million units/m² every 8 h for 3 doses, followed by a single 5 million units/m² dose once-daily on days 2–5 of week 1 and then for 5 days each week for a further 3 weeks; maximum 6 cycles) + SC IFN-α (5 million units/m² 3 times per week) for the first 4 weeks of treatment; or IV

IL-2 (600,000 units/kg every 8 h for 5 days, beginning on Day 1 and again on Day 15; maximum 3 cycles)¹²¹

- Response rates were 3 CR + 6 PR for IL-2 + IFN-α (ORR=9.9%) and 8 CR + 14 PR for high-dose IL-2 (ORR=23.2%) (p=0.018)
- Median response duration was 15 months for IL-2 + IFN-α versus 24 months for high-dose IL-2 (p=0.18)
- Median PFS was 3.1 months for both treatment arms
- Median OS was 13 months for patients receiving IL-2 + IFN-α and 17 months for patients receiving high-dose IL-2 (p=0.211)
- 425 patients with metastatic RCC and no prior chemotherapy were randomised to SC IFN-α, IV IL-2 or a combination of both treatments¹¹⁸
 - At Week 25 of treatment, CR was achieved in 1 patient receiving IFN-α, 2 patients receiving IL-2 and 5 patients receiving IFN-α + IL-2
 - $\circ~$ PR was achieved in 3 patients receiving IFN- α , 7 patients receiving IL-2 and 14 patients receiving IFN- α + IL-2
 - At a median follow-up of 39 months, DFS rates were 15%, 12% and 30% for IFN- α , IL-2 and IFN- α + IL-2, respectively (p=0.01 for IFN- α + IL-2 versus IFN- α or IL-2 alone)
 - \circ OS did not differ significantly between treatment and median OS was 12 months for IFN- α , 13 months for IL-2 and 17 months for IFN- α + IL-2
- In the open-label MRC RE04 trial, 1006 patients with metastatic RCC were randomised to IFN-α2a or combination therapy with IFN-α2a, IL-2 and 5-FU¹²²
 - OS at 1 year was similar for both treatments (67% in both groups)
 - $\circ~$ At 3 years, OS was 30% in the IFN- $\alpha 2a$ and 26% in the combination therapy group
 - Median OS was not significantly different between treatment arms (HR: 1.05; 95%CI: 0.90–1.21; p=0.55)
 - o There was also no difference between treatments for median PFS

Angiogenesis inhibitors

Overview

 Patients should preferably undergo biopsy prior to the initiation of treatment with these agents

Bevacizumab

Patient selection

- Good and intermediate prognostic groups according to Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC) criteria
- Clear cell histology
- Adequate cardiac and renal function
- No recent or planned surgery

Adverse effects of treatment

• When administered as monotherapy, the most common AEs associated with bevacizumab 10 mg/kg included proteinuria (25% of patients), hypertension (14%), malaise (13%) and epistaxis (8%)¹²³

- In a Phase II study, 116 patients with metastatic RCC who had previously received immunotherapy and/or chemotherapy were randomised to bevacizumab 3 mg/kg, bevacizumab 10 mg/kg or placebo, administered every 2 weeks until disease progression¹²³
 - Median PFS was 4.8 months for bevacizumab 10 mg/kg versus 2.5 months for placebo (p<0.001)
 - Median PFS was 3.0 months for bevacizumab 3 mg/kg versus 2.5 months for placebo (p=0.041)
 - Only 4 patients achieved objective responses and these were all in the bevacizumab 10 mg/kg group
- In the Phase III AVOREN trial, 649 patients with previously untreated metastatic RCC were randomised to bevacizumab (10 mg/kg every 2 weeks) + IFN-α (9 million units 3 times weekly) or placebo + IFN-α (9 million units 3 times weekly), with treatment until disease progression¹¹³
 - $\circ~$ ORR was 31% with bevacizumab + IFN- α , compared with 13% for IFN- α alone (p=0.0001)
 - Median PFS was 10.2 months for bevacizumab + IFN-α versus 5.4 months for IFN-α alone (HR: 0.63; 95% CI: 0.52–0.75; p=0.0001)
 - Median TTP was 10.2 months for bevacizumab + IFN-α versus 5.5 months for IFN-α alone (HR: 0.61; 95% CI: 0.51–0.73; p=0.0001)

- The CALGB 90206 study randomised patients with previously untreated metastatic RCC to bevacizumab (10 mg/kg every 2 weeks) + IFN-α (9 million units 3 times weekly) or IFN-α monotherapy (9 million units 3 times weekly)¹²⁴
 - Median OS was 18.3 months with bevacizumab + IFN- α (95% CI: 16.5–22.5) versus 17.4 months for IFN- α monotherapy (95% CI: 14.4–20.0) (p=0.097)
 - Median PFS was 8.4 months for bevacizumab + IFN-α compared with 4.9 months for IFN-α alone (p<0.0001)

Sunitinib

Patient selection

- Good and intermediate prognostic groups according to MSKCC criteria¹²⁵
- Clear cell histology
- Adequate cardiac and renal function
- No recent or planned surgery

Adverse effects of treatment

 In the Phase III study, the most common AEs reported in the sunitinib group included leukopenia (78% of patients), neutropenia (72%), anaemia (71%), increased serum creatinine concentration (66%), thrombocytopenia (65%), diarrhoea (53%) and fatigue (51%)¹¹²

- In a Phase II study, 63 patients with metastatic RCC that had progressed following first-line cytokine therapy received sunitinib (50–75 mg once-daily for 4 weeks, followed by 2 weeks off) until disease progression¹²⁶
 - o 25 patients achieved PR and stable disease (SD) for ≥3 months was achieved by an additional 17 patients
 - Median TTP was 8.7 months
 - Median OS was 16.4 months
- In the subsequent Phase III trial, 750 patients with previously untreated metastatic RCC were randomised to 6-week cycles of oral sunitinib (50 mg once-daily for 4 weeks, followed by 2 weeks off) or SC IFN-α (9 million units 3 times per week)¹¹²
 - \circ ORR was 31% with sunitinib versus 6% with IFN- α (p<0.001)

 Median PFS was 11 months in patients receiving sunitinib and 5 months in patients receiving IFN-α (HR: 0.42; 95%CI: 0.32–0.54; p<0.001)

Pazopanib

Patient selection

- Good and intermediate prognostic groups according to MSKCC criteria¹²⁵
- Clear cell histology
- Adequate cardiac and renal function
- No recent or planned surgery

Adverse effects of treatment

- In the Phase III trial, AEs of mucositis/stomatitis, hypothyroidism and hand-foot syndrome were mostly grade 1 or 2¹¹⁴
- 4% pts had arterial thromboembolic events in the pazopanib arm compared to none in the placebo arm
- 10% of patients randomized to pazopanib had grade 3 elevation of alanine aminotransferase and 7% had grade 3 elevation of aspartate aminotransferase. There was no demonstrable haematological toxicity, although 4% pts had arterial thromboembolic events in the pazopanib arm compared to none in the placebo arm

Clinical evidence

- In the Phase III trial of Pazopanib versus placebo, the PFS in treatment-naïve groups was 11.1 months and in pre-treated patients 7.4 months (p<0.001)¹¹⁴
 - The final OS result was not significant as the analysis was confounded by early, frequent, and prolonged treatment with pazopanib and other therapies following crossover

Temsirolimus

Patient selection

- Good PS (Karnofsky score ≥60)
- Good renal, hepatic and haematological function
- At least 3 of 6 predictors of short survival

Adverse effects of treatment

In the Phase III ARCC trial, the most frequently-reported AEs in the temsirolimus group included rash (47% of patients), anaemia (45%), nausea (37%), anorexia (32%), pain (28%) and dyspnoea (28%)¹¹⁵

Clinical evidence

- In the ARCC Phase III trial, 626 patients with metastatic RCC who had received no prior systemic therapy were randomised to SC IFN-α2a (9–18 million units 3 times per week), IV temsirolimus (25 mg once-weekly) or SC IFN-α2a (6 million units 3 times per week) + temsirolimus (15 mg once-weekly), until disease progression¹¹⁵
 - In the temsirolimus group, mortality was reduced compared with IFN-α2a alone (HR: 0.73; 95% CI: 0.58–0.92; p=0.008)
 - \circ For temsirolimus + IFN-α2a, mortality was similar to that with IFN-α2a alone (HR: 0.96; 95% CI: 0.76–1.20; p=0.70)
 - $\circ~$ Median OS was 7.3 months for IFN- $\alpha 2a$ alone, 10.9 months for temsirolimus alone and 8.4 months for combination therapy
 - Median PFS was 3.1 months, 5.5 months and 4.7 months for IFN-α2a, temsirolimus and IFN-α2a + temsirolimus, respectively
 - There were no significant differences between treatment groups for ORR but the proportion of patients achieving SD for 6 months or objective response was significantly higher in the temsirolimus group (32.1%; p<0.001) and the combination therapy group (28.1%; p=0.002) than in the IFN-α2a group (15.5%)

Sorafenib

Patient selection

- Good PS (ECOG 0 or 1)
- Life expectancy >3 months
- Low- or intermediate-risk according to MSKCC criteria
- Clear cell histology
- Good renal, hepatic and haematological function
- No cardiac or central nervous system disorders

Adverse effects

• In Phase III studies, the most common AEs following sorafenib therapy included diarrhoea (43% of patients), rash (40%), fatigue (37%), hand-foot syndrome (30%), alopecia (27%) and nausea (23%)¹¹⁶

Clinical evidence

- In a Phase III, double-blind trial, patients with advanced clear cell carcinoma that had progressed following one previous systemic therapy were randomised to oral sorafenib (400 mg twice-daily) or placebo, continued until disease progression¹¹⁶
 - Median OS was 19.3 months for sorafenib and 15.9 months for placebo (HR: 0.77; 95% CI: 0.63–0.95; p=0.02)
 - Median PFS was 5.5 months for sorafenib and 2.8 months for placebo (HR: 0.51; 95% CI: 0.43–0.60; p<0.001)
 - o ORR was 11% for sorafenib versus 8% for placebo
 - SD was achieved for 74% of patients receiving sorafenib and 53% of patients receiving placebo (p<0.001)

Everolimus

Patient selection

- Good PS (Karnofsky score ≥70%)
- Good renal, hepatic and haematological function
- No cardiac or central nervous system disorders
- Prior vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-tyrosine kinase inhibitor therapy

Adverse effects of treatment

In the Phase III RECORD-1 study, the most common AEs associated with everolimus treatment included anaemia (91% of patients), hypercholesterolaemia (76%), hypertriglyceridaemia (71%), hyperglycaemia (50%), elevated creatinine concentrations (46%) and stomatitis (40%)¹¹⁷

- In the Phase III RECORD-1 study, 410 patients with metastatic RCC that had progressed during treatment with sorafenib, sunitinib, or both, were randomised to treatment with everolimus (10 mg once-daily) or placebo, both in conjunction with best supportive care, until disease progression¹¹⁷
 - 3 patients receiving everolimus achieved a PR versus none in the placebo group
 - SD was achieved by 63% of patients in the everolimus group compared with 32% of patients in the placebo group
 - Median PFS was 4.0 months with everolimus and 1.9 months with placebo (HR: 0.30; 95% CI: 0.22–0.40; p<0.0001)
 - The probability of being progression-free at 6 months was 26% for everolimus versus 2% for placebo

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) Technology Appraisal Guidance

• NICE has reviewed a number of systemic therapies for the treatment of advanced/metastatic RCC

First-line therapy

- Sunitinib is recommended as first-line therapy in patients with metastatic RCC who are suitable for immunotherapy and have an ECOG PS of 0 or 1¹²⁷
- Pazopanib is recommended as a first-line treatment option for people with advanced renal cell carcinoma:¹²⁸
 - \circ $\,$ Who have not received prior cytokine therapy and have an ECOG PS of 0 or 1 \underline{and}
 - If the manufacturer provides pazopanib with a 12.5% discount on the list price, and provides a possible future rebate linked to the outcome of the head-to-head COMPARZ trial, as agreed under the terms of the patient access scheme and to be confirmed when the COMPARZ trial data are made available
- Bevacuzimab, sorafenib and temsirolimus are not recommended as first-line treatment options for patients with metastatic RCC¹²⁹

Second-line therapy

 Sorafenib and sunitinib are not recommended as second-line treatment options for patients with metastatic RCC¹²⁹

Palliative care

Surgery

Overview

 Nephrectomy may be used to resolve symptoms such as pain and bleeding arising from the primary tumour¹³⁰

Tumour embolisation

Overview

- This approach may be considered in patients with large tumours that cannot be resected and that are causing overt symptoms
- Common side effects include fever and transient pain, but these can usually be managed with non-steroidal anti inflammatory drugs

Clinical evidence

- A small number of studies have assessed embolisation in renal cancer
 - In 14 patients with Stage I–III RCC who underwent transarterial embolisation with ethanol, at a median follow-up of 39 months 11 patients remained alive¹³¹
 - In a series of 36 elderly patients (56–91 years) with a median tumour size of 6 cm, at a median follow-up of 24 months 13 had died (8 of an unrelated illness and 5 of unknown cause)¹³²
 - The median time to death after diagnosis was 9 months

Palliative radiotherapy

Overview

- This is an option for patients with large tumours with bleeding where no other options are feasible or available
- In addition, radiotherapy of bone metastases from RCC can provide short-term pain relief^{133–135}

Ongoing support

The MDT should ensure regular communication with the primary care team.

This may mean:

- Timely provision of detailed discharge or outpatient summaries
- Explanation of why a treatment route has been decided upon
- The patient's response to the chosen treatment
- Sharing of protocols
- Online educational resources
- Agreement on prescribing policies
- Provision of contact numbers for requests for information

The local patient support network, e.g. with the patients permission partner/family, should be included in the information/education process through the use of:

- Patient information materials
- Audio visual materials such as videos, DVDs and Web-based information

References

- 1. American Joint Committee on Cancer. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 6th ed. New York: Springer, 2002.
- 2. American Joint Committee on Cancer. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. 7th ed. New York: Springer, 2010.
- 3. Ljungberg B, Hanbury DC, Kuczyk MA, et al. Guidelines on renal cell carcinoma. European Association of Urology, 2009.
- 4. Hung RJ, Moore L, Boffetta P, et al. Family history and the risk of kidney cancer: a multicenter case-control study in central Europe. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2007; 16: 1287–1290.
- 5. Negri E, Foschi R, Talamini R, et al. Family history of cancer and the risk of renal cell cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2006; 15: 2441–2444.
- 6. Hunt JD, ven der Hel O, McMillan GP, Boffetta P, Brennan P. Renal cell carcinoma in relation to cigarette smoking: meta-analysis of 24 studies. Int J Cancer 2005; 114: 101-108.
- Theis RP, Dolwick Grieb SM, Burr D, Siddiqui T, Asal NR. Smoking, environmental tobacco smoke, and risk of renal cell cancer: a population-based case-control study. BMC Cancer 2008; 8: 387.
- Bergström A, Hsieh C-C, Lindblad P, Lu C-M, Cook NR, Wolk A. Obesity and renal cell cancer – a quantitative review. Br J Cancer 2001; 85: 984–990.
- Pischon T, Lahmann PH, Boeing H, et al. Body size and risk of renal cell carcinoma in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Int J Cancer 2006; 118: 728–738.
- 10. Setiawan VW, Stram DO, Nomura AMY, Kolonel LN, Henderson BE. Risk factors for renal cell cancer: the multiethnic cohort. Am J Epidemiol 2007; 166: 932–940.
- 11. Corrao G, Scotti L, Bagnardi V, Sega R. Hypertension, antihypertensive therapy and renal cell cancer: a meta-analysis. Curr Drug Saf 2007; 2: 125–133.
- 12. Flaherty KT, Fuchs CS, Colditz GA, et al. A prospective study of body mass index, hypertension, and smoking and the risk of renal cell carcinoma (United States). Cancer Causes Control 2005; 16: 1099–1106.
- Weikert S, Boeing H, Pischon T. Blood pressure and risk of renal cell carcinoma in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Am J Epidemiol 2008; 167: 438–446.
- Stewart JH, Buccianti G, Agodoa L, et al. Cancers of the kidney and urinary tract in patients on dialysis for end-stage renal disease: analysis of data from the United States, Europe, and Australia and New Zealand. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14: 197–207.
- Eng C. *PTEN* Hamartoma Tumor Syndrome (PHTS). In: GeneReviews. Pagon RA, Bird TD, Dolan CR, Stephens K (eds). Seattle: University of Washington, 2011. Available at: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1488/</u>.
- 16. Verine J, Pluvinage A, Bousquet G, et al. Hereditary renal cancer syndromes: An update of a systematic review. Eur Urol 2010; 58: 701–710.

- 17. Atzpodien J, Royston P, Wandert T, et al. Metastatic renal carcinoma comprehensive prognostic system. Br J Cancer 2003; 88: 348–353.
- Jabs WJ, Busse M, Kruger S, Jocham D, Steinhoff J, Doehn C. Expression of C-reactive protein by renal cell carcinomas and unaffected surrounding renal tissue. Kidney Int 2005; 68: 2103–2110.
- 19. Heidenreich A, Ravery V, European Society of Oncological Urology. Preoperative imaging in renal cell cancer. World J Urol 2004; 22: 307–315.
- Derweesh IH, Herts BR, Motta-Ramirez GA, et al. The predictive value of helical computed tomography for collecting-system entry during nephron-sparing surgery. BJU Int 2006; 98: 963–968.
- 21. Coll DM, Smith RC. Update on radiological imaging of renal cell carcinoma. BJU Int 2007; 99: 1217–1222.
- 22. Powles T, Murray I, Brock C, Oliver T, Avril N. Molecular positron emission tomography and PET/CT imaging in urological malignancies. Eur Urol 2007; 51: 1511–1520.
- Sun SS, Chang CH, Ding HJ, Kao CH, Wu HC, Hsieh TC. Preliminary study of detecting urothelial malignancy with FDG PET in Taiwanese ESRD patients. Anticancer Res 2009; 29: 3459–3463.
- 24. Oyama N, Okazawa H, Kusukawa N, et al. 11C-acetate imaging for renal cell carcinoma. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2009; 36: 422–427.
- 25. ESUR guidelines on contrast media. Version 6.0. Vienna: European Society of Urogenital Radiology, 2007. Available at: http://www.esur.org/fileadmin/Guidelines/ESUR_2007_Guideline_6_Kern_Ubersicht.pdf.
- 26. Ljungberg B, Cowan NC, Hanbury DC, et al. EAU guidelines on renal cell carcinoma: the 2010 update. Eur Urol 2010; 58: 398–406.
- 27. Lane BR, Tiong HY, Campbell SC, et al. Management of the adrenal gland during partial nephrectomy. J Urol 2009; 181: 2430–2436.
- Blom JHM, Van PH, Marechal JM, et al. Radical nephrectomy with and without lymph-node dissection: Final results of European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Randomised Phase 3 trial 30881. Eur Urol 2009; 55: 28–34.
- 29. Hemal AK, Kumar A, Kumar R, Wadhwa P, Seth A, Gupta NP. Laparoscopic versus open radical nephrectomy for large renal tumours: a long-term prospective comparison. J Urol 2007; 177: 862–866.
- Gratzke C, Seitz M, Bayrle F, et al. Quality of life and perioperative outcomes after retroperitoneoscopic radical nephrectomy (RN), open RN and nephron-sparing surgery in patients with renal cell carcinoma. BJU Int 2009; 104: 470–475.
- Desai MM, Strzempkowski B, Matin SF, et al. Prospective randomized comparison of transperitoneal versus retroperitoneal laparoscopic radical nephrectomy. J Urol 2005; 173: 38–41.

- 32. Nadler RB, Loeb S, Clemens JQ, Batler RA, Gonzalez CM, Vardi IY. A prospective study of laparoscopic radical nephrectomy for T1 tumours is transperitoneal, retroperitoneal or hand-assisted the best approach? J Uol 2006; 175: 1230–1233.
- Nambirajan T, Jeschke S, Al-Zahrani H, Vrabec G, Leeb K, Janetschek G. Prospective randomized controlled study: transperitoneal laparoscopic versus retroperitoneoscopic radical nephrectomy. Urology 2004; 64: 919–924.
- Gabr AH, Gdor Y, Strope SA, Roberts WW, Wolf JS Jr. Approach and specimen handling do not influence oncological perioperative and long-term outcomes after laparoscopic radical nephrectomy. J Urol 2009; 182: 874–880.
- 35. Pettus JA, Jang TL, Thompson RH, Yossepowitch O, Kagiwada M, Russo P. Effect of baseline glomerular filtration rate on survival in patients undergoing partial or radical nephrectomy for renal cortical tumors. Mayo Clin Proc 2008; 83: 1101–1106.
- 36. Berger DA, Megwalu II, Vlahiotis A, et al. Impact of comorbidity on overall survival in patients surgically treated for renal cell carcinoma. Urology 2008; 72: 359–363.
- 37. Van Poppel H, Da Pozzo L, Albrecht W et al. A prospective randomized EORTC Intergroup Phase 3 study comparing the complications of elective nephron-sparing surgery and radical nephrectomy for low-stage RCC. Eur Urol 2007; 51: 1606–1615.
- 38. Butler BP, Novick AC, Miller DP, Campbell SA, Licht MR. Management of small unilateral renal cell carcinomas: radical versus nephron-sparing surgery. Urology 1995; 45: 34–40.
- Lee JH, You CH, Min GE et al. Comparison of the surgical outcome and renal function between radical and nephron-sparing surgery for renal cell carcinomas. Korean J Urol 2007; 48: 671–676.
- 40. Simmons MN, Chung BI, Gill IS. Perioperative efficacy of laparoscopic partial nephrectomy for tumours larger than 4 cm. Eur Urol 2009; 55: 199–208.
- Dash A, Vickers AJ, Schachter LR, Bach AM, Snyder ME, Russo P. Comparison of outcomes in elective partial vs radical nephrectomy for clear cell renal cell carcinoma of 4–7 cm. BJU Int 2006; 97: 939–945.
- 42. Huang WC, Levey AS, Serio AM, et al. Chronic kidney disease after nephrectomy in patients with renal cortical tumours: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Oncol 2006; 7: 735–740.
- Huang WC, Elkin EB, Levey AS, Jang TL, Russo P. Partial nephrectomy versus radical nephrectomy in patients with small renal tumors - is there a difference in mortality and cardiovascular outcomes? J Urol 2009; 181: 55–61.
- 44. Zini L, Perrotte P, Capitanio U, et al. Radical versus partial nephrectomy: effect on overall and noncancer mortality. Cancer 2009; 115: 1465–1471.
- Thompson RH, Boorjian SA, Lohse CM, et al. Radical nephrectomy for pT1a renal masses may be associated with decreased overall survival compared with partial nephrectomy. J Urol 2008; 179: 468–471.
- 46. Van Poppel H, Da Pozzo L, Albrecht W, et al. A prospective, randomised EORTC intergroup phase 3 study comparing the oncologic outcome of elective nephron-sparing surgery and radical nephrectomy for low-stage renal cell carcinoma. Eur Urol 2011; 59: 543–552.

- 47. Steffens J, Humke U, Ziegler M, Siemer S. Partial nephrectomy with perfusion cooling for imperative indications: a 24-year experience. BJU Int 2005; 96: 608–611.
- 48. Patard JJ, Pantuck AJ, Crepel M, et al. Morbidity and clinical outcome of nephron-sparing surgery in relation to tumour size and indication. Eur Urol 2007; 52: 148–154.
- 49. Link RE, Bhayani SB, Allaf ME, et al. Exploring the learning curve, pathological outcomes and perioperative morbidity of laparoscopic partial nephrectomy performed for renal mass. J Urol 2005; 173: 1690–1694.
- 50. Pasticier G. Timsit MO, Badet L, et al. Nephron-sparing surgery for renal cell carcinoma: detailed analysis of complications over a 15-year period. Eur Urol 2006; 49: 485–490.
- 51. D'Armiento M, Damiano R, Feleppa B, et al. Elective conservative surgery for renal carcinoma versus radical nephrectomy: a prospective study. Br J Urol 1997; 79: 15–19.
- 52. Crepel M, Jeldres C, Perrotte P et al. Nephron-sparing surgery is equally effective to radical nephrectomy for T1BN0M0 renal cell carcinoma: a population-based assessment. Urology 2010; 75: 271–275.
- 53. Patard JJ, Bensalah KC, Pantuck AJ, et al. Radical nephrectomy is not superior to nephron sparing surgery in PT1B-PT2N0M0 renal tumours: A matched comparison analysis in 546 cases. Eur Urol Suppl 2008; 7: 194.
- 54. Thompson RH, Kaag M, Vickers A, et al. Contemporary use of partial nephrectomy at a tertiary care centre in the United States. J Urol 2009; 181: 993–997.
- 55. Weight CJ, Larson BT, Fergany AF, et al. Nephrectomy induced chronic renal insufficiency is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular death and death from any cause in patients with localised cT1b renal masses. J Urol 2010; 183: 1317–1323.
- 56. Gill IS, Kavoussi LR, Lane BR et al. Comparison of 1800 laparoscopic and open partial nephrectomies for single renal tumours. J Urol 2007; 177 Suppl: 165
- 57. Leibovich BC, Bute ML, Cheville JC, et al. Prediction of progression after radical nephrectomy for patients with clear cell renal cell carcinoma: a stratification tool for prospective clinical trials. Cancer 2003; 97: 1663–1671.
- 58. Rini BI, Campbell SC, Escudier B. Renal cell carcinoma. Lancet 2009; 373: 1119–1132.
- 59. Su LM, Jarrett TW, Chan DY, Kavoussi LR, Solomon SR. Percutaneous computed tomography-guided radiofrequency ablation of renal masses in high surgical risk patients: preliminary results. Urology 2003; 61 (4 Suppl 1): 26–33.
- Gervais DA, McGovern FJ, Arellano RS, McDougal WS, Mueller PR. Radiofrequency ablation of renal cell carcinoma: Part I, indications, results and role in patient management over a 6-year period and ablation of 100 tumours. Am J Roentgenol 2005; 185: 1851–1864.
- Roy-Choudhury S, Cast JEI, Cooksey G, Puri S, Breen DJ. Early experience with precutaneous radiofrequency ablation of small solid renal masses. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2003; 180: 1055–1061.
- Breen DJ, Rutherford EE, Stedman B, et al. Management of renal tumours by image-guided radiofrequency ablation: Experience in 105 tumors. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol 2007; 30: 936–942.

- Mayo-Smith WW, Dupuy DE, Parikh PM, Pezzullo JA, Cronan JJ. Imaging-guided percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of solid renal masses: techniques and outcomes of 38 treatment sessions in 32 consecutive patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2003; 180: 1503–1508.
- 64. Weizer AZ, Raj GV, O'Connell M, Robertson CM, Nelson RC, Polascik TJ. Complications after percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of renal tumors. Urology 2005; 66: 1176–1180.
- 65. Arzola J, Baughman SM, Hernandez J, Bishoff JT. Computed tomography-guided, resistancebased, percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of renal malignancies under conscious sedation at two years of follow-up. Urology 2006; 68: 983–987.
- 66. Ahrar K, Matin S, Wood CG, et al. Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of renal tumors: technique, complications, and outcomes. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2005; 16: 679–688.
- 67. Kunkle DA, Egleston BL, Uzzo RG. Excise, ablate or observe: the small renal mass dilemma a meta-analysis and review. J Urol 2008; 179: 1227–1233.
- 68. Ogan K, Jacomides L, Dolmatch BL, et al. Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of renal tumors: technique, limitations, and morbidity. Urology 2002; 60: 954–958.
- 69. Zagoria RJ, Hawkins AD, Clark PE, et al. Percutaneous CT-guided radiofrequency ablation of renal neoplasms: factors influencing success. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2004; 183: 201–207.
- Zagoria RJ, Traver MA, Werle DM, Perini M, Hayasaka S, Clark PE. Oncologic efficacy of CTguided percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of renal cell carcinomas. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2007; 189: 429–436.
- 71. Gupta A, Raman JD, Leveillee RJ, et al. General anesthesia and contrast-enhanced computed tomography to optimize renal percutaneous radiofrequency ablation: multi-institutional intermediate-term results. J Endourol 2009; 23: 1099–105.
- 72. Hegarty NJ, Gill IS, Desai MM, Remer EM, O'Malley CM, Kaouk JH. Probe-ablative nephronsparing surgery: cryoablation versus radiofrequency ablation. Urology 2006; 68 (1 Suppl): 7–13.
- 73. Silverman SG, Tuncali K, vanSonnenberg E, et al. Renal tumors: MR imaging-guided percutaneous cryotherapy initial experience in 23 patients. Radiology 2005; 236: 716–724.
- 74. Desai MM, Aron M, Gill IS. Laparoscopic partial nephrectomy versus laparoscopic cryoablation for the small renal tumour. Urology 2005; 66 Suppl: 23–28
- O'Malley RL, Berger AD, Kanofsky JA, et al. A matched-cohort comparison of laparoscopic cryoablation and laparoscopic partial nephrectomy for treating renal masses. BJU Int 2007; 99: 395–398.
- Ko YH, Park HS, Moon DG et al. Matched cohort comparison of laparoscopic renal cryoablation using ultra-thin cryoprobes with open partial nephrectomy for the treatment of small renal cell carcinoma. Cancer Res Treat 2008; 40: 184–189.
- 77. Gill IS, Remer EM, Hasan WA, et al. Renal cryoablation: outcome at 3 years. J Urol 2005; 173: 1903–1907.
- 78. Littrup PJ, Ahmed A, Aoun HD, et al. CT-guided percutaneous cryotherapy of renal masses. J Vasc Interv Radiol 2007; 18: 383–392.

- Smaldone MC, Kutikov A, Egleston BL, et al. Small renal masses progressing to metastases under active surveillance: A systematic review and pooled analysis. Cancer 2012; 118: 997–1006.
- 80. Jewett MA, Mattar K, Basiuk J, et al Active surveillance of small renal masses: progression patterns of early stage kidney cancer. Eur Urol 2011; 60: 39–44.
- Margulis V, Tamboli P, Jacobsohn KM, Swanson DA, Wood CG. Oncological efficacy and safety of nephron-sparing surgery for selected patients with locally advanced renal cell carcinoma. BJU Int 2007; 100: 1235-1239.
- Karellas ME, Jang TL, Kagiwada MA, Kinnaman MD, Jarnagin WR, Russo P. Advanced-stage renal cell carcinoma treated by radical nephrectomy and adjacent organ or structure resection. BJU Int 2009; 103: 160–164.
- Hellenthal NJ, Chamie K, Ramirez ML, de Vere White RW. Sociodemographic factors associated with nephrectomy in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Urol 2009; 181: 1013–1018.
- 84. Krambeck AE, Leibovich BC, Lohse CM, Kwon ED, Zincke H, Blute ML. The role of nephron sparing surgery for metastatic (pM1) renal cell carcinoma. J Urol 2006; 176: 1990–1995.
- 85. Blute ML, Leibovich BC, Lohse CM, Cheville JC, Zincke H. The Mayo Clinic experience with surgical management, complications and outcome for patients with renal cell carcinoma and venous tumour thrombus. BJU Int 2004; 94: 33–41.
- 86. Nathan P, Wagstaff J, Porfiri E, Powles T, Eisen T. UK guidelines for the systemic treatment of renal cell carcinoma. Br J Hosp Med (Lond) 2009; 70: 284–286.
- 87. Schuch B, La Rochelle JC, Wu J, et al. Performance status and cytoreductive nephrectomy: redefining management in patients with poor performance. Cancer 2008; 113: 1324–1331.
- Capitanio U, Zini L, Perrotte P, et al. Cytoreductive partial nephrectomy does not undermine cancer control in metastatic renal cell carcinoma: A population-based study. Urology 2008; 72: 1090–1095.
- 89. Hutterer GC, Patard J-J, Colombel M, et al. Cytoreductive nephron-sparing surgery does not appear to undermine disease-specific survival in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer 2007; 110: 2428–2433.
- 90. Rabets JC, Kaouk J, Fergany A, Finelli A, Gill IS, Novick AC. Laparoscopic versus open cytoreductive nephrectomy for metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Urology 2004; 64: 930–934.
- 91. Matin SF, Madsen LY, Wood CG. Laparoscopic cytoreductive nephrectomy: the M. D. Anderson Cancer Center experience. Urology 2006; 68: 528–532.
- Kader AK, Tamboli P, Luongo T, et al. Cytoreductive nephrectomy in the elderly patient: the M. D. Anderson Cancer Center experience. J Urol 2007; 177: 855–860.
- 93. Kassouf W, Sanchez-Ortiz R, Tamboli P, et al. Cytoreductive nephrectomy for metastatic renal cell carcinoma with nonclear cell histology. J Urol 2007; 178: 1896–1900.
- Flanigan RC, Mickisch G, Sylvester R, Tangen C, Van Poppel H, Crawford ED. Cytoreductive nephrectomy in patients with metastatic renal cancer: a combined analysis. J Urol 2004; 171: 1071–1076.

- 95. Doehn C, Richter A, Lehmacher W, Jocham D. Adjuvant autologous tumour cell-lysate vaccine versus no adjuvant treatment in patients with M0 renal cell carcinoma after radical nephrectomy: 3-year interim analysis of a German multicentre phase-III trial. Folia Biol (Praha) 2003; 49: 69–73.
- 96. Figlin RA, Thompson JA, Bukowski RM, et al. Multicenter, randomized, phase III trial of CD8(+) tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in combination with recombinant interleukin-2 in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 2521–2529.
- Belldegrun A, Shvarts O, Figlin RA. Expanding the indications for surgery and adjuvant interleukin-2-based immunotherapy in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. Cancer J Sci Am 2000; 6 Suppl 1: S88–S92.
- Repmann R, Goldschmidt AJ, Richter A. Adjuvant therapy of renal cell carcinoma patients with an autologous tumor cell lysate vaccine: a 5-year follow-up analysis. Anticancer Res 2003; 23: 969–974.
- Jocham D, Richter A, Hoffman L, et al. Adjuvant autologous renal tumour cell vaccine and risk of tumour progression in patients with renal-cell carcinoma after radical nephrectomy: phase III, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004; 363: 594–599.
- 100. Wood C, Srivastava P, Bukowski R, et al. An adjuvant autologous therapeutic vaccine (HSPPC-96; vitespen) versus observation alone for patients at high risk of recurrence after nephrectomy for renal cell carcinoma: a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase III trial. Lancet 2008; 372: 145–154.
- 101. Aitchison M, Bray CA, Van Poppel H, et al. Final results from an EORTC (GU Group)/NCI randomized phase III trial of adjuvant interleukin-2, interferon-alpha, and 5-fluorouracil in patients with a high risk of relapse after nephrectomy for renal cell carcinoma (RCC). J Clin Oncol 2011; 29 Suppl: Abstract 4505.
- 102. Gleave ME, Elhilali M, Fradet Y, et al. Interferon gamma-1b compared with placebo in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. Canadian Urologic Oncology Group. N Engl J Med 1998; 338: 1265–1271.
- 103. Mickisch GH, Garin A, Van Poppel H, et al. Radical nephrectomy plus interferon-alfa-based immunotherapy compared with interferon alfa alone in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma: a randomised trial. Lancet 2001; 358: 966–970.
- 104. Pizzocaro G, Piva L, Colavita M, et al. Interferon adjuvant to radical nephrectomy in Robson stages II and III renal cell carcinoma: a multicentric randomized study. J Clin Oncol 2001; 19: 425–431.
- 105. Messing EM, Manola J, Wilding G, et al. Phase III study of interferon alfa-NL as adjuvant treatment for resectable renal cell carcinoma: an Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group/Intergroup trial. J Clin Oncol 2003; 21: 1214–1222.
- 106. Gotoh A, Shirakawa T, Hinata N, et al. Long-term outcome of postoperative interferon-alpha adjuvant therapy for non-metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Int J Urol 2004; 11: 257–263.
- 107. Atzpodien J, Schmitt E, Gertenbach U, et al. Adjuvant treatment with interleukin-2- and interferon-alpha2a-based chemoimmunotherapy in renal cell carcinoma post tumour nephrectomy: results of a prospectively randomised trial of the German Cooperative Renal Carcinoma Chemoimmunotherapy Group (DGCIN). Br J Cancer 2005; 92: 843–846.

- 108. Pfannschmidt J, Hoffmann H, Muley T, Krysa S, Trainer C, Dienemann H. Prognostic factors for survival after pulmonary resection of metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Ann Thorac Surg 2002; 74: 1653–1657.
- 109. Murthy SC, Kim K, Rice TW, et al. Can we predict long-term survival after pulmonary metastasectomy for renal cell carcinoma? Ann Thorac Surg 2005; 79: 996-1003.
- 110. Hofmann HS, Neef H, Krohe K, Andreev P, Silber RE. Prognostic factors and survival after pulmonary resection of metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Eur Urol 2005; 48: 77–81.
- 111. lesalnieks I, Winter H, Bareck E, et al. Thyroid metastases of renal cell carcinoma: clinical course in 45 patients undergoing surgery. Assessment of factors affecting patients' survival. Thyroid 2008; 18: 615–624.
- 112. Motzer RJ, Hutson TE, Tomczak P, et al. Sunitinib versus interferon alfa in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2007; 356: 115–124.
- 113. Escudier B, Pluzanska A, Koralewski P, et al. Bevacizumab plus interferon alfa-2a for treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomised, double-blind phase III trial. Lancet 2007; 370: 2103–2111.
- 114. Sternberg CN, Davis ID, Mardiak J, et al. Pazopanib in locally advanced or metastatic renal cell carcinoma: results of a randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 1061–1068.
- 115. Hudes G, Carducci M, Tomczak P, et al. Temsirolimus, interferon alfa, or both for advanced renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2007; 356: 2271–2281.
- 116. Escudier B, Eisen T, Stadler WM, et al. Sorafenib in advanced clear cell renal call carcinoma. N Engl J Med 2007; 356: 125–134.
- 117. Motzer RJ, Escudier B, Oudard S, et al. Efficacy of everolimus in advanced renal cell carcinoma: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase III trial. Lancet 2008a; 372: 449–456.
- 118. Negrier S, Escudier B, Lasset C, et al. Recombinant human interleukin-2, recombinant human interferon alfa-2a, or both in metastatic renal-cell carcinoma. N Engl J Med 1998; 338: 1272–1278.
- 119. Motzer RJ, Bacik J, Murphy BA, Russo P, Mazumdar M. Interferon-alfa as a comparative treatment for clinical trials of new therapies against advanced renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20: 289–296.
- 120. Negrier S, Perol D, Ravaud D, et al. Medroxyprogesterone, Interferon alfa-2a, Interleukin 2, or Combination of Both Cytokines in Patients With Metastatic Renal Carcinoma of Intermediate Prognosis Results of a Randomized Controlled Trial. Cancer 2007; 110: 2468–2477.
- 121. McDermott DF, Regan MM, Clark JI, et al. Randomized Phase III trial of high-dose interleukin-2 versus subcutaneous interleukin-2 and interferon in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23: 133–141.
- 122. Gore ME, Griffin CL, Hancock B, et al. Interferon alfa-2a versus combination therapy with interferon-alfa 2a, interleukin-2 and fluorouracil in patients with untreated metastatic renal cell carcinoma (MRC RE04/EORTC GU 30012): an open-label randomised trial. Lancet 2010; 375: 641–648.

- 123. Yang JC, Haworth L, Sherry RM, et al. A randomized trial of bevacizumab, an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor antibody, for metastatic renal cancer. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 427–434.
- 124. Rini BI, Halabi S, Rosenberg JE, et al. Phase III trial of bevacizumab plus interferon-alpha versus interferon-alfa monotherapy in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma: final results of CALGB 90206. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 2137–2143.
- 125. Motzer RJ, Bukowski RM, Figlin RA, et al. Prognostic nomogram for sunitinib in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer 2008; 113: 1552–1558.
- 126. Motzer RJ, Michaelson MD, Redman BG, et al. Activity of SU11248, a multitargeted inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor and platelet-derived growth factor receptor, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 16–24.
- 127. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Sunitinib for the first-line treatment of advanced and/or metastatic renal cell carcinoma. NICE Technology Appraisal Guidance 169, March 2009.
- 128. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Pazopanib for the first-line treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma. NICE Technology Appraisal Guidance 215, February 2011.
- 129. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Bevacizumab (first-line), sorafenib (firstand second-line), sunitinib (second-line) and temsirolimus (first-line) for the treatment of advanced and/or metastatic renal cell carcinoma. NICE Technology Appraisal Guidance 178, August 2009b.
- 130. De Reijke TM, Bellmunt J, van Poppel H, Marreaud S, Aapro M. EORTC-GU group expert opinion on metastatic renal cell cancer. Eur J Cancer 2009; 45: 765–773.
- 131. Munro NP, Woodhams S, Nawrocki JD, Fletcher MS, Thomas PJ. The role of transarterial embolization in the treatment of renal cell carcinoma. BJU Int 2003; 92: 240–244.
- 132. Lamb GW, Bromwich EJ, Vasey P, Aitchison M. Management of renal masses in patients medically unsuitable for nephrectomy - natural history, complications, and outcome. Urology 2004; 64: 909–913.
- 133. Huguenin PU, Kieser S, Glanzmann C, Capaul R, Lutolf M. Radiotherapy for metastatic carcinomas of the kidney: an analysis using palliative end points. Int J Radiol Oncol Biol Phys 1998; 41: 401–405.
- 134. Lee J, Hodgson D, Chow E, et al. A phase II trial of palliative radiotherapy for metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer 2005; 104: 1894–1900.
- 135. Reichel LM, Pohar S, Heiner J, Buzaianu EM, Damron TA. Radiotherapy to bone has utility in multifocal metastatic renal carcinoma. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2007; 459: 133–138.